THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001493
Lower Court Case No. 16-GS-14-0161

RECEIVED
FEB 12 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JUSTIN BRADLEY CAMERON,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 738-8622
(803) 738-1600 FAX
tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

The lower court erred in overruling Appellant's Object to a question posed by the prosecution where the question itself, in effect listed the identity of Appellant as the perpetrator of the crime charged as one of the facts the witness had been supplied by the Victim and therefore, called for testimony concerning a prior consistent statement by the Victim in excess of that allowed by Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, and *State v. Munn*, and its progeny, which improperly bolstered the credibility of the minor Victim in this case and violated Appellant's right to due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Grand Jury of the Clarendon County Court of General Sessions during their June, 2017 term, for the offense of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor in the First Degree. Indictment No. 2016-GS-14-0161 He proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable Craig Brown on August 7-9, 2018. He was represented in the Court of General Sessions by Timothy L. Griffith, Esquire, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors, Katarzyna K. Durant, and Christopher R. Durant. Appellant was found guilty as charged at the conclusion of said trial and was sentenced to Twenty-Five (25) years in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Appellant's behalf and this appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Issue I.

The lower court erred in overruling Appellant's Object to a question posed by the prosecution where the question itself, in effect listed the identity of Appellant as the perpetrator of the crime charged as one of the facts the witness had been supplied by the Victim and therefore, called for testimony concerning a prior consistent statement by the Victim in excess of that allowed by Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, and *State v. Munn*, and its progeny, which improperly bolstered the credibility of the minor Victim in this case and violated Appellant's right to due process of law.

SUMMARY OF RELEVANT TRIAL TESTIMONY

At Appellant's trial, during the opening argument for the State, Assistant Solicitor Timmons specifically states that this case involved the anal penetration of the Victim by the Appellant. **R. p. 6, lines 6 – 19.** That assertion is consistent with the narrow charging language found in the Indictment against Appellant for First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, wherein it states that the Appellant, *“did commit a sexual battery upon a minor who was less than eleven years of age, to wit: he anally penetrated [Victim], date of birth [Redacted], in violation of Section 16-3-655, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended.”* See, **Indictment No. 2016-GS-14-0161.** The Prosecutor then described the Victim as having been born into family who did not care about him. She described how this child would often come to school dirty and hungry and informed them that he was taken ultimately taken away by DSS the end of September, 2015. **R. p. 6, lines 24 – p. 7, line 2.** The argument went on to inform the jury that the Victim's Foster family reported that the child smelled of feces the first day they got him, and that he *“couldn't hold his bowel movement.”* **R. p. 7, lines 3-5.** He stated that this little boy had several accidents and that he could not determine when he was going [to the bathroom]. The prosecutor advised the jury that the police did not get involved in this case until October, 2015, several months after the incident for which Appellant was on trial. At the time of the alleged

incident, the child was seven years old. R. p. 6, line 21, p. 7, lines 20 - 22. In her opening arguments to the jury, this prosecutor defines Sexual Battery as any intrusion, however slight, *upon the body of a child*. She then goes on to clearly assert that in this case, the sexual battery was “**anal penetration**”. Ass’t Solicitor Timmons never clarified that not just any intrusion, “upon the body of a child” would constitute a sexual battery sufficient to support a finding of guilt of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a minor pursuant to S.C. Code §16-3-655 and §16-3-651(h). She acknowledged that there “*There are no physical evidence [sic] because by, the time there will not be any, and well crimes like that, crimes like that, it’s inherent in their nature that usually there are no witnesses to the crime other than the perpetrator.*” Her argument advises the jury that the Victim is 10 at the time of this trial. R. p. 8, lines 4 – 9. R. p. 8, line 15.

The State’s first witness was, Lt. Fred Moore. He identified himself as “Lt. Moore., Sex Crimes Unit York South Carolina, without specifically identifying what law enforcement agency he was affiliated with. He described his career as involving twenty-three (23) years in law enforcement and indicated that he had been a detective for ten years. R. p. 13-14, lines 19 – 4. According to his testimony, he became involved in this case when, “*we received a DSS referral and the DSS caseworker set up a forensic interview and asked him to attend*”. He verified that he never spoke with the Victim, which he stated, is their standard procedure, with children between ages 4-12. “*We go through the child advocacy center. It’s called Safe Passage in our county in Rockhill.*” R. p. 14, lines 11-22. He “*was with DSS for the interview observing through a monitor,*” but was not in the same room. R. p. 14, lines 23 – p. 15, lines 3. Lt. Moore testified that based upon the video of the forensic interview, **State’s Exhibit No. 1, for ID Only**, he put together a case packet and sent it to the Turbeville Police Department because it was apparent the case was outside his jurisdiction as it involved an incident in Turbeville, South

Carolina in *Clarendon County*. He had no further involvement in the case. **R. p. 15, lines 4 – 24.** On cross-examination he confirmed that he did no investigation of the case himself and that he did not talk to the child **R. p. 16, lines 11 – 13. R. p. 16, lines 14 – p. 17, lines 3.** There was no re-direct examination of this witness. **R. p. 17, lines 4-7.**

The following day, before the jury was returned to the Courtroom, the State brought up an issue with the forensic interview, to which the Trial Judge responded that he was not going to decide that issue yet. The Prosecutor then states that the problem is they do not have the Forensic Interviewer available as a witness and that they wished to introduce the video of that interview through the child Victim. It was noted that Defense Counsel had indicated an objection to this request *in chambers*. Defense Counsel then put his objection on the record. **R. p. 27, line 9 - p. 28, line 9.** The Trial Judge cited to *State v. Anderson*¹ as authority for the fact that the forensic interviewer must be called as a witness in order for the State to comply with S.C. Code §17-23-175(b) and took the issue under advisement **R. p. 29 line 14 – p. 30, line 15.**

The State's second witness was David Flowers. **R. p. 63, line 16.** He testified that he was not working at the time of trial and was on disability. He stated that during "*the summer time*" he was working for Progressive Home Builders and that he lives in Turbeville, in Clarendon County **R. p. 64, lines 1 – 12.** His street address has been redacted pursuant to Rule, SCRPC. He identified State's Ex. No. 3 as his house. That exhibit, a photograph of the house in question was introduced as State's Ex. No. 3, without objection. **R. p. 34, lines 13 – 21.** This witness indicated he had lived at that address maybe 4-5 years and notes that the house is yellow. His testimony confirms that State's Ex. No.3 presented an accurate picture of how the house looked in 2015. He testified that he still lives there with his two sons, Minor Witness No. 1 (age 15) and Minor Witness No. 2 (age 14). **R. p. 35, lines 8 - 21.** Flowers described his house as a

¹ *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (S.Ct. 2015).

two bedroom, 1 bathroom house that also had a living room and a kitchen **R. p. 35, lines 22-25.**

He testified that in the summer of 2016 he let a woman and her child move in because they had nowhere to go. He recalled that the woman, named Kelly, was brought there by a friend that wanted him to help her out by letting her stay at his home. The identity of that individual is not disclosed at trial and neither is his connection to Kelly Cameron and her son Minor Victim, explained. Flowers stated that he agreed to take Kelly and her son, whom he estimated to be 6, maybe 7 years old. Flowers testified that they stayed approximately a month ***“in and around July of 2015.”*** When explaining how he knew this woman and her child came in his home in July, 2015, he gave a rather confusing answer **R. p. 36, line 5-p. 37, line 22.** He testified that when she packed up and left in August she took some of his boys stuff. He said he had looked up when he texted her to tell her she had done that and ***“I think, I want to say 15th or so”.*** He added, ***“That was like three or four days after she left and so that would have definitely put her around the last part of July staying with us.”*** If you start with August 15, 2015 and count backwards four (4) days, you get August 11th as her departure date. Then, counting backward thirty (30) days from there, consistent with Flowers’ testimony, you get an arrival date of July 12th. If the text was sent three (3) after she left, as opposed to four (4), then you reach an arrival date of July 13th and a departure date of August 12th. As previously noted, this witness testified that a friend of his brought her by his house. He recalled that she had no driver’s license and nowhere to go. She had a small child so he decided to help her out. He gave her a place to stay for a month so that he could help her get a license and get back on her feet. **R. p. 37, lines 10-22.** He expressly testified that this stranger and her young son stayed ***“around a month, 30 days.”*** **R. p. 38, lines 5-7.** Using the timeline provided by the Victim for the length of their stay at the Flowers’ residence, they were there for two weeks and Appellant was there “half as long”, one week. Using Mr. Flowers’ sworn testimony which established a departure date for Kelly and her

son of either August 11th or August 12th, and a two week stay asserted by the Victim, you get a start date for the Victim's presence in the Flowers house of either July 28th or 29th; Arrival dates that are eleven (11) or twelve (12) days after it has been established that Appellant was under lock and key at the Moss Justice Center Detention Facility. As previously noted, if you use Mr. Flowers' testimony which puts Kelly and the Victim there for 30 days, you still get an arrival date of either July 12th or July 13th. Neither of these arrival dates would allow for the Appellant to have been in the home for a week prior to his incarceration on July 17th – September 26th.^{fn2}

Flowers testified that he did not think Kelly had any family in Turbeville and said he said *"all her family is from Rock Hill."* R. p. 37, lines 1 - 4. His testimony indicated that his younger son had gone to stay with the boy's aunt while on summer break. His older son, Minor Witness No. 1, agreed to give up his room so the woman and the boy could have his room while they were there. Flowers testified that he stayed in his own room. R. p. 39, line 15 – p. 40, line 2.

Flowers testified that after about a week and a half, Kelly, the mother, got a job working at a gentlemen's club in Florence called the Trophy Club. He recalled that at some point *"we went and picked her brother up form Rock Hill, and he stayed approximately seven days."* Other than him, Flowers stated that no one else, other than Kelly and her son, stayed at his home during that time period. R. p. 40, lines 3 -15. He identified defendant in the Courtroom as Kelly's brother. R. p. 40, lines 16-20. Flowers identified Appellant as Kelly's brother during his trial testimony. R. p. 40, lines 21-24. He said he thought he picked the brother up on a Sunday and he stayed until a week later when he left on Monday or Tuesday. He said Kelly and Minor Victim moved out about two weeks later. R. p. 41, lines 1-9. When he went to Rock Hill to get

² Def. Ex. No. 1, introduced later in this trial, was a letter from the York County Sheriff's Department, Establishing that Appellant was in the Moss Justice Center Detention Facility from July 17 – September 26, 2015. This exhibit was introduced without objection by the State.

Defendant, Kelly and Minor Victim were with him. He first testifies that he, his son, Kelly and Minor Victim spent the weekend at Lake Wateree R. p. 41, lines 10-25. Even though Flowers clearly said *“me and my son, Kelly and Minor Victim went to the lake for the weekend”*,³ the prosecution next asked if one or both of his sons went to the lake and this witness answered, *“both of them”*. Then the prosecution asked, *“Okay. That’s Minor Witness No. 1 and others?”* Flowers responded *“Minor Witness No. 1 and them.”* R. p. 42, lines 4-5. He then testified that they arrived at Lake Wateree on Friday. When asked who all spent that Friday night at the lake, he then stated, *“[w]hen we got there it was me and both my boys and Kelly and Minor Victim.”* R. p. 42, lines 11-19. He said that on Sunday, he, Kelly and Minor Victim rode to Rock Hill and picked up her brother at a house Kelly directed him to. His son’s were left back at Wateree. R. p. 43, lines 6-25. According to Flowers, after allegedly picking up Kelly’s brother, they went back to Wateree, retrieved his sons and then headed back to his house in Turbeville. The prosecutor asked who then stayed at his house. Flowers said his *“oldest boy Minor Witness No. 1, Kelly, Minor Victim, and Justin.”* When the prosecutor asked where Minor Witness No. 2 was, he simply repeated that, *“Minor Witness No. 2 was spending most of his summer with my aunt, I mean my sister, which is his aunt.”* It was the prosecutor who stated, *“[s]o he just went with you to, I guess to Lake Wateree for the weekend and then he went to your sister?”* Flowers agreed with her version of the facts. R. p. 44, line 1 – p. 46, line 2. According to Flowers, from that point, Minor Witness No. 1 slept on the loveseat and Justin slept on the couch. His testimony indicated Minor Witness No.1 was there somewhere between two and four days while Justin was there, but then left and went to his grandmother’s house for a couple of days. Justin had already left by the time Minor Witness No. 1 came back home. R. p. 46, lines 3-23. He testified that Kelly and a friend from work drove Justin back to Rock Hill. Minor Victim went with them. R.

³ R. p. 41, lines 24-25

p. 46, line 24 – p. 47, line 6. Once again, the prosecutor provided, “ *[A]nd then Kelly and Minor Victim stayed for about two more weeks and then they....*” Again, Flowers confirmed the prosecutor’s statement of these facts. **R. p. 47, lines 10 – 13.**

On cross-examination, Flowers denied having a romantic relationship with Kelly. ⁴He acknowledged that he was not always at the house when Kelly was there. **R. p. 47, line 21 – p. 48, line 1.**

On redirect, Flowers said Kelly’s job hours were from 5:00 in the afternoon until 2:00 or 3:00 in the morning. He recalled one night when she did not come home and he had to miss work the next day because he had been watching her child. **R. p. 48, line 20 – p. 49, line 16.** Next the prosecutor asked if that one night had been when Justin was at the house. Flowers stated that it was. He was not asked why he would have had to watch Kelly’s child all night if the boy’s uncle was there. **R. p. 49, lines 17-20.**

After the testimony of Flowers, Judge Brown ruled that pursuant to S.C. Code §17-23-175, as well as *State v Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E. 2d 76 (S.Ct. 2015), the video of the forensic interview was not admissible since the interviewer was not available to testify to the requirements set forth in 17-23-175(a). **R. p. 50, line 14 – p. 51, line 21.** The record indicates that Judge Brown viewed the entire video. The record of the trial does not indicate that a copy of the video was introduced as a Court’s Exhibit. **R. p. 52, line 1 – p. 53 line 3; Index to Trial Exhibits, R. p. 3.**

Judge notes other potential problems with the video of this child’s interview pursuant to *State v. Cromer, Anderson and White*.⁵

⁴ The testimony of the Victim, however, suggested that “Mr. David” may have gone to Myrtle Beach with him and his Mom after they left the Flowers’ house in Turbeville.

⁵ Citations omitted.

After the Court's ruling on matters regarding the video of the Victim's interview, an *in camera* Competency Hearing was held to determine the child's competency to present testimony. The victim testified that he had just turned 10 years old, on; this trial was held August 7-9, 2018. **R. p. 55, lines 4-9.** He was born in 2008 and was getting ready to start the fifth grade. He was, at the time of trial, in the process of moving to Sarasota Florida with his family. Clearly the Victim was referencing his new family. Court stops inquiry that goes beyond the purpose of the hearing and is not relevant to competency. **R. p. 55, line 17 – p. 56, line 22.** Child gave an explanation of the truth v. a lie and stated that it is wrong to tell a lie. **R. p. 56, line 24 – R. 57, line 13.** States argues he is competent. The Court questions him further. **R. p. 57, line 14 - p. 58, line 24.**

After the victim was questioned by the Court, Defense Counsel did ask victim if someone might lie to keep from hurting someone's feelings. Then he asked, [i]s it ever okay to lie? The Victim responded "*no, it's not okay to lie.*" **R. p. 59 lines 1 - 9.** The Court ruled that the Victim was competent to testify based upon the testimony he gave during the in camera hearing. **R. p. 59, lines 10 – 20.** State asks Court if they can ask the victim, in front of the jury, if he knows the difference between the truth and a lie. The Court grants the State leave to do so. **R. p. 60, lines 11-19.**

Following the competency hearing, the Victim⁶ was the State's next witness. When he was asked about the truth versus a lie, he gave, almost verbatim, the same answer he had given during the hearing **R. p. 61, line 17 – R. p. 62, lines 5-15. Compare, R. p. 57, lines 2 – 10.** Has been living with the Minor Victim's, his new family for four or three years. Almost four. Leaving for Florida night after lunch **R. p. 63, line 24 – p. 64, line 23.** He lived with his

⁶ Throughout this brief, the minor complaining witness is referenced as "*the child*" or "*the Victim*" in compliance with Rule 41.2, SCRCivP.

grandmother, Sherry, until she passed away, then he lived with his mom, Kelly. **R. p. 65, line 12-22.** He testified that when he lived with his grandma, they lived in a house in a neighborhood. He states that he had lived a few with his mom. He initially described living in a shack type place with two floors and then stated that they had stayed in another house for two weeks. The Victim indentified the house where they stayed with Mr. David as being the house in **State's Ex. No. 3.** Then the child identified Flowers in Court. **R. p. 65, line 23 – p. 67, line 25.**

In his trial testimony, the Victim said he stayed in that house with Mr. David, Minor Witness No. 1, his mom and his uncle Justin, 2 weeks. He identified Appellant in Court as his Uncle Justin. He described Mr. David's house as not being very big. He said he did not remember what time of year it was, but then curiously said *"it was on summer vacation."* He thinks he was about to start first grade. He recalled that he only stayed at that house one time. While he was there, he slept in Minor Witness No. 1's room. **R. p. 67, line 1-18 – p. 68, line 25.**

The Victim went on to testify that Appellant stayed in Minor Witness No. 1's room with him when his mom was at work. This boy testified that his Uncle Justin *"stuck his thing up my butt."* He said *"his thing"* was his private part. He additionally claimed Appellant *"also put it in my mouth."* He said his uncle told he would buy him a Ninja Turtle. **R. p. 69, line 4 – p. 70, line 17.** The State initially asked the Victim a leading question by asking him if *"his uncle"* had *"touched him in a way that..."* Trial Counsel objected to this question as leading and the objection was sustained. There was no follow up Motion to Strike nor was there a request for a curative charge. When asked if he knew whether his uncle left the room right after it happened this young boy said, *"no, I don't remember."* **R. p. 70, lines 18-20.**

When asked what he was wearing when this incident took place, the child testified, *"clothes and like, kind of, it was my normal."* The Victim did not say anything about his uncle

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