ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001493

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JUSTIN BRADLEY CAMERON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

141 N. Main St.
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 10 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court correctly limited a corroborating witness's time and place testimony in a CSC case to "whether or not [the victim] said anything" and precluded the witness from recounting "what was said." Even if the court erred, the testimony did not affect the outcome of trial.

Cameron claims the trial court erroneously "allow[ed] the State to ask" the victim's adopted father "whether the Victim had identified Appellant as the person who sexually assaulted him." Brief of Appellant at 31. The trial court did no such thing. To the extent the solicitor's question called for improper testimony, the court *sustained the objection*. The trial court reframed the question and specifically instructed the witness that he could only say "whether or not he said anything, but I will not allow you to go into what was said." (R.p.87). The record is clear that the trial court understood the correct rule of law and directed the witness to stay within those bounds. Furthermore, Cameron's bolstering argument is not preserved for review because he did not specifically object on that basis at trial, raise an objection to the relief that was granted, request a curative instruction, or move to strike the solicitor's question. Finally, even if the court erred, the testimony did not affect the result of the case. The testimony in question related solely to the identity of the assailant, and everyone in the courtroom was aware Cameron was the alleged perpetrator. This Court should affirm.

a. Applicable law.

Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by the rules of evidence or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court or by statute. Rule 802 SCRE. "Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c) SCRE. However, in a criminal sexual conduct case, a statement is not hearsay if: (1) the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is

subject to cross-examination concerning the statement; (2) the statement is consistent with the declarant's testimony, and; (3) the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident. Rule 801(d)(1)(D) SCRE. Under the common law, when the victim in a CSC case takes the stand and testifies, "evidence that she complained of an assault may be introduced to corroborate her testimony [but] the particulars or details are not admissible but so much of the complaint as identifies 'the time and place with that of the one charged' may be shown." State v. Munn, 292 S.C. 497, 500, 357 S.E.2d 461, 463 (1987), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005); State v. Cox, 274 S.C. 624, 627, 266 S.E.2d 784, 786 (1980). Additionally, a declarant's prior consistent statement is admissible as substantive evidence when offered to rebut an express or implied charge of fabrication. Rule 801(d)(1)(B).

b. The trial court correctly directed the witness to give only "time and place" corroboration testimony.

Cameron claims the trial court erroneously "allow[ed] the State to ask" the victim's adopted father "whether the Victim had identified Appellant as the person who sexually assaulted him." Brief of Appellant at 31. This claim is meritless. Even if the solicitor's question arguably called for testimony beyond what the rules allow, the trial correctly instructed the juror to say only whether Victim "said anything" about the assault, and instructed him not to repeat "what was said." (R.p.87). This was a correct ruling and Cameron has not shown an abuse of discretion.

The court's ruling should be viewed in context. The State called Phil Dante, Victim's adopted father, to give background and corroborating testimony about Victim's disclosure. Dante explained he and his wife agreed to foster Victim for a weekend while DSS found a permanent home. The Dantes took Victim to the hospital because he was experiencing digestive

problems and “basically hadn’t gone to the bathroom” in a long time. (R.p.86). The solicitor then carefully elicited “time and place” testimony as follows:

Solicitor: Did [Victim], I guess, this is a yes or no question. Did [the victim] [tell] you about the incident?

Defense attorney: Objection, Your Honor, to hearsay.

(R.p.86–87). This objection was baseless. The question whether Victim told Mr. Dante “about the incident” was plainly allowable corroboration evidence pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(D).

Defense counsel objected generally on the basis of “hearsay” even though the rule expressly permits “time and place” hearsay testimony in CSC cases where the declarant has already testified. In this case, the victim’s testimony directly preceded Mr. Dante’s.

In response to defense counsel’s objection, the trial court asked the solicitor to repeat the question. The solicitor did so, but added an extra phrase.¹ She asked: “Did [the victim] [tell] you about the incident that happened between him and his uncle.” (R.p.87, lines 7–8). While the State understands Cameron’s argument that the question called for testimony beyond what is allowed under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), it was still a yes or no question and was not intended to elicit an open-ended response about the contents of the victim’s statement. Defense counsel did not appear to even notice the distinction. Instead of honing his objection based on the difference in the two questions, defense counsel made the same exact objection: “Objection to hearsay, Your Honor.” (R.p.87).

The trial court did not overrule the objection. Instead, he reframed the question in the language of the rule: “I’ll allow you to answer whether or not he said anything, but I will not

¹ Respondent submits that the inclusion of the phrase “between him and his uncle” was not intended to elicit improper testimony. The solicitor’s original question was carefully crafted to avoid eliciting inadmissible hearsay, and only after being asked to repeat the question following defense counsel’s spurious objection did the solicitor add the five words Cameron alleges necessitate reversal of his conviction. The solicitor had no wrongful intent.

allow you to go into what was said. It's a yes or no answer." (R.p.87, lines 11–14). The witness answered simply: "Yes." Defense counsel raised no objection to the court's ruling.

The solicitor then elicited the remainder of the allowable 801(d)(1)(D) evidence:

Solicitor: And did he [tell] you about, did he [tell] you where it happened?

Witness: Yes.

Solicitor: Okay. Where did it happen?

Witness: He said he was staying with his mother—

Defense counsel: Objection. . . . He's now testifying as to what [the victim] said.

(R.p.87). Again, the solicitor's question was proper under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), and again defense counsel made a meritless hearsay objection. Again, the trial court made a correct legal ruling: "He's testifying as to time and place which I believe are allowed under the statute, are allowed under the rules. You're not allowed to testify as to what he told you other than time or place as provided under our rules." (R.p.88). The witness went on to testify that the victim said "it was in the summer." (R.p.88, line 19). Defense counsel raised no further objection.

The trial court committed no error. Everything he said and did was consistent with the law. Cameron's entire argument is based on an unartful question that would never have been asked if his lawyer had not made a spurious objection to the solicitor's original, proper question. The trial court effectively sustained the objection by reframing the question and directing the witness to answer, yes or no, whether the victim made a disclosure without giving details of what was said. The only actual evidence offered was the witness's one-word response: "Yes." The trial court committed no error of law. This Court should affirm.

- c. **The issue raised on appeal is not preserved for review because defense counsel did not raise the exact alleged error with specificity to the trial court, move to strike the solicitor's question, or request a curative instruction or any other relief following the court's ruling.**

Cameron should not be allowed to raise this issue on appeal because he acquiesced in the trial court's ruling. Furthermore, it is not clear that defense counsel objected at trial on the same basis he now raises on appeal. He asks this court to infer that his objection to the solicitor's second question was different than his objection to her first question, even though his stated objection was exactly the same. If that was his intent, his objection was not sufficiently specific to bring the distinction to the attention of the trial court, and it is not clear that the trial court ever ruled on the issue as raised in this appeal.

On appeal, Cameron claims the solicitor's question elicited improper bolstering testimony beyond what is allowed by Rule 801(d)(1)(D). But defense counsel never uttered the word "bolstering" at trial, nor did he cite to a specific provision of the hearsay rule. Instead, he made a vague one-word objection to "hearsay." While normally such an objection would be sufficient to preserve an issue for appeal, that is not so where the evidence is being offered pursuant to a narrow exception to the rule. If not for the exception created by Rule 801(d)(1)(D), Mr. Dante's corroboration testimony would indeed be hearsay because it concerned an out-of-court statement offered for its truth: that the victim told Mr. Dante he had been raped. This was how the trial court understood the objection, and ruled accordingly. This understanding is reasonable considering defense counsel objected to the solicitor's first question, which did not include the complained-of language of the second question.

If defense counsel truly meant to raise a bolstering objection because he believed the solicitor's question called for testimony beyond what is allowed under the rule, he would have not have objected to the solicitor's first question. A more reasonable explanation is that defense counsel never meant to raise a bolstering objection to the solicitor's second question based on its

additional content, but was instead raising a generic, meritless hearsay objection based on the fact that the witness was relaying an out-of-court statement.

If he intended to make a separate objection to the second question, or was unsatisfied with the court's ruling, he should have supplemented and clarified his objection. He did not do so. Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 386, 798 S.E.2d 561, 570 (2017) ("Without an objection . . . the trial court has no opportunity to exercise its discretion."); State v. Parris, 387 S.C. 460, 466, 692 S.E.2d 207, 210 (Ct.App.2010) (explaining where a defendant receives the relief requested from the trial court, there is no issue for the appellate court to decide); State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 146, 731 S.E.2d 604, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) ("Where an objection is sustained, the trial court has rendered a favorable ruling to the party, and it therefore 'becomes necessary that the sustained party move to cure, or move for a mistrial if such a cure is insufficient, in order to create an appealable issue.'"). Accordingly, defense counsel's objection to the solicitor's second question was at best too vague to bring to the court's attention the issue he now raises on appeal. This Court should not entertain such an appellate argument. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) ("In order to preserve for review an alleged error in admitting evidence, an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge."). Cameron acquiesced in the trial court's ruling and has failed to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Wright, 416 S.C. 353, 371, 785 S.E.2d 479, 488 (Ct. App. 2016) (explaining a party may not acquiesce in a ruling and then complain on appeal).

d. Even if the trial court erred, Cameron was not prejudiced.

Even if the trial court erred, the error was harmless. Appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447,

710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). Phil Dante's testimony was limited to a simple one-word response to the court's reframed "time and place" question. The witness never said, "[the victim] told me his Uncle Justin raped him." It is not even clear from the exchange that the victim actually identified Cameron as the perpetrator to Mr. Dante at that time. Of course, at the time of trial Mr. Dante knew that Cameron was the alleged perpetrator, but he never said the victim told him so at the time of the disclosure. Cameron's whole argument is based around a somewhat ambiguous one-word answer to a question that never would have been asked if defense counsel had not made a spurious objection to the solicitor's original question. This is not reversible error.

Even assuming the solicitor's question whether the victim told Mr. Dante "about the incident that happened between him and his uncle" raised the danger that a juror could have perceived the testimony as bolstering, the alleged bolstering only concerned the identity of the perpetrator. Everyone in the courtroom knew Cameron was the alleged perpetrator. The indictment alleging the same was the whole reason the jurors were there in the first place. The victim had just given damning testimony explaining in detail how his uncle raped him, and that nothing like that had ever happened to him before or since. (R.p.71).

This case stands in stark contrast to Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 240, 814 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2018), reh'g denied (June 12, 2018), cited in Cameron's brief. There, the Supreme Court found Thompson was prejudiced by his lawyer's failure to object to bolstering testimony where: (1) a DSS caseworker testified the victim "revealed to me that she was being sexually abused by [Petitioner]"; (2) an expert witness who conducted a forensic interview of the victim testified "Victim disclosed chronic sexual abuse by Petitioner in the form of vaginal penetration, anal penetration, and oral sex" and that the victim's disclosure was credible; and (3) a police

officer testified that victim's disclosures were "consistent with her training and experience." Id., 423 S.C. 240–42, 814 S.E.2d 489–90. Thus, multiple witnesses, including an expert, gave explicit corroborating testimony not only to the victim's disclosure of identity, but to all the particulars of the disclosure, and an opinion that the disclosure was "compelling." That is bolstering.

Another example of prejudicial bolstering is State v. Simmons, 423 S.C. 552, 565, 816 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2018), reh'g denied (Aug. 2, 2018). There, the trial court admitted hearsay testimony of identity and other details by a medical professional. The evidence was admitted over defense counsel's *specific* objection that the testimony exceeded the "time and place" corroboration allowed by Rule 801(d)(1)(D). To make matters worse, the solicitor highlighted the bolstering nature of the testimony in her closing argument. Finally, the judge's ruling (that the testimony was admissible under the medical diagnosis exception to the hearsay rule) was legally erroneous. Again, that is a far cry from this case.

Cameron has not cited a single case where an appellate court overturned a conviction due to a single witness's corroborative testimony consisting only of the perpetrator's identity, much less one where the alleged bolstering was limited to a one-word response to a judge's reframing of a solicitor's question. Further, Jolly² and Dawkins³ rely on the now-defunct rule that hearsay that is "merely corroborative" cannot be harmless. The Supreme Court has since clarified that corroborative hearsay is always subject to a harmless error analysis, even in a CSC case. See State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 482, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011) (Kittredge, J., concurring). Because the exchange in question did not have an appreciable bolstering effect and could not have affected the outcome of trial, Cameron has not shown prejudice. Combined with the fact

² Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 556 (1994).

³ Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001).

that the trial judge improperly excluded rebuttal testimony offered in response to Cameron's charge that Victim was fabricating his story, Cameron's trial was more than fair.⁴ (R.p.99-101).

This Court should affirm.

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